

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/neubiorev

Review

Altering BDNF expression by genetics and/or environment: Impact for emotional and depression-like behaviour in laboratory mice

Sabine Chourbaji*, Christiane Brandwein, Peter Gass

Central Institute of Mental Health Mannheim (ZI), University of Heidelberg, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 3 February 2010 Received in revised form 1 July 2010 Accepted 2 July 2010

Keywords: BDNF Mutant mice Environment Enrichment Depression Stress Emotional behaviour

ABSTRACT

According to the "neurotrophin hypothesis", brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) is an important candidate gene in depression. Moreover, environmental stress is known to represent a risk factor in the pathophysiology and treatment of this disease.

To elucidate, whether changes of BDNF availability signify cause or consequence of depressive-like alterations, it is essential to look for endophenotypes under distinct genetic conditions (e.g. altered BDNF expression). Furthermore it is crucial to examine environment-driven BDNF regulation and its effect on depressive-linked features. Consequently, gene \times environment studies investigating prospective genetic mouse models of depression in different environmental contexts become increasingly important.

The present review summarizes recent findings in BDNF-mutant mice, which have been controversially discussed as models of depression and anxiety. It furthermore illustrates the potential of environment to serve as naturalistic stressor with the potential to modulate the phenotype in wildtype and mutant mice. Moreover, environment may exert protective effects by regulating BDNF levels as attributed to "environmental enrichment". The effect of this beneficial condition will also be discussed with regard to probable "curative/therapeutic" approaches.

© 2010 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	599
2.	The neurotrophin hypothesis of depression	600
	2.1. Factors involved in the pathogenesis of depression	601
	2.2. Mechanisms affected in the therapeutic process	602
3.	Balanced BDNF levels: impact of environmental and genetic factors	602
4.	BDNF-mutant mice: models for depression?	603
5.	BDNF-mutant mice: models for emotionality?	605
6.	Beneficial and detrimental environmental conditions in mice	606
7.	Depression: genes or environment?	607
8.	Conclusion and preview	608
	References	608

1. Introduction

Affective disorders, such as depression and pathological anxiety which are highly concomitant, affect millions of people worldwide. Currently there are only a few effective treatments and there is no satisfying consensus concerning the pathophysiology of these devastating disorders. Former studies support the idea that the neurotrophic system plays a key role in the pathogenesis of depression (Altar, 1999; Calabrese et al., 2009; Hindmarch, 2002; Karege et al., 2002; Lang et al., 2004; Nibuya et al., 1995; Rasmusson et al., 2002; Smith et al., 1995b; Vaidya and Duman, 2001). Particularly mature brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) as a member of the neurotrophic factor family (including also nerve growth factor (NGF), Neurotrophin-3, and 4-5 (NT-3, NT-4/5) has been discussed to be involved in such processes (Bothwell, 1995). Whether changes of this system are causative or occur as a secondary phenomenon remains questionable though. On the other hand, an up-regulation of neurotrophins has been demonstrated following various antidepressant measures (Angelucci et al., 2000b;

^{*} Corresponding author at: Central Institute of Mental Health, J 5, D-68159 Mannheim, Germany. Tel.: +49 621 1703 2932; fax: +49 621 1703 2005. *E-mail address:* sabine.chourbaji@zi-mannheim.de (S. Chourbaji).

^{0149-7634/\$ -} see front matter © 2010 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.07.003

D'Sa and Duman, 2002; Duman and Vaidya, 1998; Russo-Neustadt et al., 1999, 2001; Siuciak et al., 1997; Zetterstrom et al., 1998), indicating that these growth factors play a key role in the treatment of affective disorders. Such antidepressant-induced increases in e.g. endogenous BDNF were furthermore accompanied by an enhanced tropomyosine-related kinase B (TrkB) receptor activity, which is required for antidepressant-induced behavioural effects (Saarelainen et al., 2003). However, the exact mechanisms through which antidepressants (which are additionally used to treat other central nervous system (CNS) disorders like chronic pain, phobia or bulimia) exert such effects remain unclear.

A major problem of research on depression to reliably prove such concepts in humans consists in the restriction of systematic approaches, because the detailed investigation of this disease requires the analysis of brain tissue at crucial time points. Consequently, valid and representative animal models are a central tool of experimental psychiatry, especially mouse models, since this species bears the advantage that particular target genes of depression, e.g. BDNF may be manipulated according to the research focus. Further arguments to use mice as model organisms are i) the equivalence to many human genes as well as ii) the similarity of numerous biological and biochemical functions. Nonetheless it is crucial to consider the mouse not only as a model organism, but also as a species by itself with a very complex behavioural repertoire and social organisation that is distinctive concerning gender and strain and therefore results are not directly transferrable to humans. Regarding such restrictions, a very promising mouse model for depression was proposed by Shannon et al. (Gourley and Taylor, 2009), in which prior corticosterone exposure produces a reliable depressive-like state. The two major benefits of this animal are that (i) the same animals may be used after corticosterone wash-out as well as (ii) the easy replication of this strategy between the laboratories, which often states a problem of animal models (Gourley and Taylor, 2009).

Nowadays it is generally accepted that the occurrence of a depressive episode results from a combination of interacting environmental and genetic factors (Mill and Petronis, 2007), which may not be sufficiently illustrated by a very specific approach like the above mentioned corticosterone exposure. Nevertheless such models may help to clarify certain aspects of specific subtypes or endophenotypes of depression, which may be characterized by various symptoms and therefore they also have to be considered in current concepts about the pathophysiology and treatment of depression. As described by many groups addressing such hypotheses by means of animal models, potentially "depressed" rodents are not able to cope/adapt to an environmental challenge (e.g. forced swimming or footshock) which may be attributed to an increased vulnerability to develop depressive-like symptoms (Chourbaji et al., 2008b; Monteggia et al., 2007; Ridder et al., 2005). Such an increased proneness is postulated to be additionally be promoted by aversive (early) experiences such as e.g. maternal separation (Lambas-Senas et al., 2009). Contrary, beneficial experiences (for instance exposure to an enriched environment) may decrease the risk in vulnerable individuals (i.e. in BDNF heterozygous mice) (Chourbaji et al., 2008a).

A malfunction evoking respective "depressive phenotypes" is frequently linked to impairments in neural resilience, with altered expression of so-called plasticity genes such as BDNF, its highaffinity receptor TrkB, or the transcription factor, cAMP response element binding protein (CREB), altering the cascade of events from intracellular signalling to gene expression (for review see (Calabrese et al., 2009)).

Here we review studies considering particularly the role of BDNF in mouse models for depression as well as the impact of various environmental factors (such as housing conditions, social stress, etc.), which may be decisive for the development or cure of depressive-like alterations primarily in rodents, and discuss their clinical implications also in terms of transferability to humans.

2. The neurotrophin hypothesis of depression

BDNF, NGF, but also NT3, and NT-4/5, are primarily synthesized as 30–35 kDa precursor proteins, which are later on cleaved by pro-convertases at a highly conserved dibasic amino acid cleavage site (Mowla et al., 2001). The resulting neurotrophins share a common basic structure with variable domains determining the binding to their specific receptors and respective biological functioning (Heumann, 1994). Noteworthy, all neurotrophins bind to unselective low-affinity p75, but exclusively interact with their individual high-affinity receptors of the *Trk* family (Lee et al., 2001). While binding to the p75 receptor has been discussed to induce not only plasticity but also apoptotic processes (Majdan et al., 1997; Rabizadeh et al., 1993; Roux et al., 1999; Underwood and Coulson, 2008), an appropriate coexpression with Trk receptors may balance such effects and enhance specificity for their primary ligands (Bibel et al., 1999; Esposito et al., 2001; Tapia-Arancibia et al., 2004).

Since it was recently shown by e.g. Lee et al. (Lee et al., 2001), that pro-neurotrophins have different receptor affinities than mature one, with high affinity for p75, but less for Trk receptors, it is important to be aware of the fact that a balanced availability of pro- and mature neurotrophins is essential to determine cell survival and cell death, which is a critical point with regard to the clarification of distinct pathologies. Besides the plasticity-relevant impact of BDNF in almost all aspects of fetal development (and also during adulthood) another classical role of the neurotrophins is known as the "neurotrophin hypothesis". This hypothesis refines one of the original theories of depression, i.e. the "monoaminergic theory" of depression (Schildkraut, 1965), by focussing on the role of mature BDNF and it postulates that reduced activity of the CREB-BDNF-TrkB pathway causes a depressive state. Contrarily, the activation of this system (i.e. BDNF-TrkB binding with subsequent receptor dimerization, phosphorylation and activation of the intracellular tyrosine kinase domain) initiates several complex intracellular signal transduction cascades thereby inducing biological responses, which are implicated in the molecular mechanisms of antidepressive therapy (Altar, 1999; Martinowich et al., 2007; Urani et al., 2003). This is a crucial fact in so far as up-regulation of monoamines occurs already within minutes after administration of antidepressants, while effects on mood often have a lag period of weeks or even months (Nestler et al., 2002). This in turn highlights the impact of other, later (potentially adaptive) appearing changes in the CREB-BDNF-TrkB pathway with regard to antidepressant efficacy (Duman et al., 1997; Nestler et al., 2002). The assumption that this pathway plays an essential role is moreover substantiated by the finding that antidepressant effects - which after chronic treatment may not be attributed to activated monoaminergic neuronal firing anymore (Szabo et al., 1999) - are mediated by activation of mediators in this system, i.e. TrkB (Saarelainen et al., 2003). It is thus conceivable that neurotrophin-evoked plastic changes may need time to develop, which might partly explain why the clinical effects arise only with a certain delay after starting the treatment.

Hereby it is stated that one important second messenger system is represented by the cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) pathway (Vaidya and Duman, 2001), where the generation of cAMP results in the activation of cAMP-dependent protein kinase (PKA), which in turn triggers CREB (Duman et al., 2000). Activated CREB enhances the transcription of many target genes, e.g. BDNF, which exerts its effects principally by activation of its high-affinity receptor, the trkB, thereby influencing structural plasticity and trophic effects in neurons (Duman and Monteggia, 2006; Urani et al., 2003). Furthermore, BDNF-induced actions may be controlled by the presence of truncated TrkB receptors, which form an efficient and

SWOT analysis of the neurotrophin hypothesis: Due to controversial debates and findings considering an association of BDNF with a depressive-like state, it is essential to regard all facts, which play a role in the interpretation of data rising from hypothesis-driven studies. Referring Literature: (Almeida et al., 2005; Barrientos et al., 2003; Berton et al., 2006; Branchi et al., 2006a; Castren and Rantamaki, 2008; Eisch et al., 2003; Hoshaw et al., 2005; Miro et al., 2002; Nibuya et al., 1995; Pizarro et al., 2004; Sartorius et al., 2009; Shirayama et al., 2002; Siuciak et al., 1997; Smith et al., 1995b; Vaidya et al., 1997; Wu and Castren, 2009).



selective barrier to prevent diffusion and internalisation of BDNF to particular regions in the developing brain (Biffo et al., 1995; Eide et al., 1996), On the other hand, it is crucial to be aware of the role of pro-BDNF, which may exert contrary effects by exclusive high-affinity interaction with particularly p75 (Arevalo and Wu, 2006).

To clarify the postulated implication of the neurotrophic cycle in the pathogenesis of depression, several mutant mouse lines were generated to investigate the impact of a particular genetic condition (e.g. heterozygous, conditional or forebrain-specific knockouts). Such genetic strategies hereby overcome the problem that an entire knockout of BDNF is lethal and cannot be investigated behaviourally, which naturally excludes the investigation of gene-dosis effects. Consequently, such mice, in which BDNF or TrkB expression is differently regulated, may help to clarify specific questions about the functional and temporal role of BDNF-mediated actions. However, besides the possible genetic approaches for the assessment of the role of BDNF (see Table 1), there are also many alternative considerations focussing on beneficial and detrimental effects on murine behaviour induced by environmental factors. These could - possibly via regulation of BDNF levels - represent potent modulators of mood and brain morphology, and substantially support the neurotrophin hypothesis of depression. Such approaches include e.g. the investigation of stressinduced effects as well as examination of neuronal plasticity and effects of antidepressants and ECT. Despite several studies aiming at elucidating the role of BDNF in animals, there is no consensus on whether or not the "neurotrophin hypothesis", as it was originally formulated, is transferrable in terms of practical approaches, i.e. if a decrease or lack of BDNF really provokes a depression-like state. On the contrary, there are some caveats, e.g. contradictory results in models using external stress or antidepressive treatment, where BDNF is regulated opposite to what the hypothesis predicts. The SWOT (strength, weakness, opportunities, threats) analysis below (Table 1), as it is frequently used for the evaluation of economic questions, here demonstrates and simultaneously challenges the standing of this hypothesis according to current scientific concepts and sources:

2.1. Factors involved in the pathogenesis of depression

According to clinical and experimental observations, the "neurotrophin hypothesis" claims that a deficiency in BDNF contributes to the pathophysiology of depression (Altar, 1999; Duman et al., 1997). Especially a reduced expression and low serum levels of BDNF have been correlated to the depressive state of patients (Table 1) (Karege et al., 2002; Sen et al., 2008), but it has also been suggested that an imbalance of neurotrophin receptor signalling may be involved in diseases of the CNS (Dechant and Barde, 2002). Postmortem studies have furthermore revealed that untreated depressive patients have lower cortical levels of CREB and phosphorylated CREB than healthy subjects (Chen et al., 2001a; Dowlatshahi et al., 1998; Yamada et al., 2003). On the other hand it was reported that stress, e.g. footshock stress applied to rats, induced a downregulation of BDNF mRNA (Table 1) (Rasmusson et al., 2002). Chronic stress, and a subsequent rise in plasma corticosteroid levels, is regarded as a major cause in the pathogenesis of depressive disorders (Holsboer, 2000, 2001). Stress or corticosteroid injections cause a reduction of BDNF mRNA in the hippocampus and other brain areas postulated to be implicated in the pathogenesis of depression, most likely by activation of glucocorticoid receptors (Rasmusson et al., 2002; Smith et al., 1995b; Ueyama et al., 1997). Moreover, in a genetic rat model of depression, the Flinders Sensitive Line, several brain regions (frontal cortex, occipital cortex, and hypothalamus) have lower levels of BDNF and NGF as compared to their controls, the Flinders Resistant Line (Angelucci et al., 2000a). These results demonstrate that stress and depression correlate with a decreased activity of the CREB-BDNF-TrkB pathway, but the chronological order remains to be clarified.

2.2. Mechanisms affected in the therapeutic process

The stress-induced decrease of BDNF is reversed by antidepressants or ECT (Nibuya et al., 1995). This effect is enhanced by combination with physical activity which is regarded as a form of behavioural therapy in rodents (Russo-Neustadt et al., 2001) by increasing cell proliferation and mRNA expression in this region (Neeper et al., 1996; Oliff et al., 1998). Even without stress, hippocampal BDNF (and TrkB) mRNA expression and adult neurogenesis is induced by chronic antidepressant treatments (Malberg et al., 2000; Nibuya et al., 1995; Saarelainen et al., 2003; Smith et al., 1997) or ECT (Nibuya et al., 1995; Zetterstrom et al., 1998). Irrespective of the consistency of such findings with the effectiveness of antidepressants, the mechanisms of how such drugs activate e.g. TrkB receptor signalling remain unclear. It is assumed that antidepressants modify the BDNF content and release as well as further activation of TrkB receptors by improving monoaminergic neurotransmission (Tapia-Arancibia et al., 2004). Moreover, chronic administration of several distinct classes of antidepressant treatments up-regulates CREB mRNA expression (Blom et al., 2002; Nibuya et al., 1996) and CREB phosphorylation (Saarelainen et al., 2003; Thome et al., 2000) within the hippocampus and other brain areas. Hereby, one should note that regions exhibiting an up-regulation of BDNF in response to antidepressant administration overlap closely with the regions that show an up-regulation of CREB. This correlation suggests that CREB may contribute to the antidepressant-induced increase in hippocampal BDNF expression and may be furthermore supported by a finding of Conti et al. Interestingly, when investigating CREB-deficient mice, they neither found any antidepressant-induced alterations at the behavioural level (unchanged despair behaviour in the forced swim test (FST) and tail suspension test (TST)), nor were they able to detect an upregulation of BDNF after treatment with designamine, indicating that CREB is critical to target gene regulation after chronic drug administration, which may contribute to long-term adaptations of the system to antidepressant drug treatment (Conti et al., 2002). At the clinical level, higher concentrations of CREB (Dowlatshahi et al., 1998), BDNF (Chen et al., 2001b) and TrkB (Bayer et al., 2000) are found in different brain regions of patients under antidepressive medication as compared to untreated patients. These data propose that the effects of antidepressants are mediated by an activation of the CREB-BDNF-TrkB pathway.

3. Balanced BDNF levels: impact of environmental and genetic factors

According to current theories, different types of environmental stressors (e.g. restraint stress, high density-/or isolated housing)

Box 1: The role of BDNF in depression: state of the art. In the literature there is considerable evidence supporting the idea that the neurotrophic system and in particular the brain-derived neurotrophic factor BDNF plays a key role in the pathogenesis of depression (Altar, 1999; Hindmarch, 2002; Karege et al., 2002; Lang et al., 2004; Nibuya et al., 1995; Rasmusson et al., 2002; Smith et al., 1995a,b; Vaidya and Duman, 2001). A major study in relatives of depressive patients revealed, that the BDNF gene represents a potential risk locus for bipolar disorders after genotyping and haplotyping assessments (Petryshen et al., 2009). Such concepts are supported by findings that BDNF levels are reduced in post mortem brain tissue samples and blood probes of depressed patients (Castren and Rantamaki, 2008) while treatment with antidepressants increased BDNF immunoreactivity (Chen et al., 2001a,b). A recent study moreover Documented, that antidepressant drugs not only increased endogenous BDNF, but also TrkB receptor activity, which is important in terms of mediating antidepressant-induced behavioural effects (Saarelainen et al., 2003). The fact that electroconvulsive shock therapy induces long-lasting enhancement of BDNF mRNA in the hippocampal dentate avrus furthermore strengthens the impact of BDNF in current theories about the pathophysiology and tnerapy of depression (Zetterstrom et al., 1998). Another notable finding is, that BDNF, when administered exogenously enhances neuronal plasticity (Altar, 1999) and produces antidepressive effects in an animal model, i.e. the Learned Helplessness paradigm (Shirayama et al., 2002; Siuciak et al., 1997). A quite recent milestone in neurotrophin-related research is the finding of a specific polymorphism in the BDNF gene (VAI66Met), which has been associated with environment-induced anxiety, namely when animals with a mutation for that gene, i.e. BDNFMet/Met, were placed in stressful settings. The observed emotional changes could not be reverted by the antidepressant Fluoxetine indicating that a variant of BDNF may play a key role in the genetic predisposition for affective disorders as well as human memory-, and hippocampal function (Chen et al., 2006). In summary, these facts suggest a BDNF-driven enhancement of neuronal functioning, which may be disturbed in depressed individuals.

Referring Literature: (Altar, 1999; Castren and Rantamaki, 2008; Chen et al., 2001b; Chen et al., 2006; Hindmarch, 2002; Karege et al., 2002; Lang et al., 2004; Nibuya et al., 1995; Petryshen et al., 2009; Rasmusson et al., 2002; Saarelainen et al., 2003; Shirayama et al., 2002; Siuciak et al., 1997; Smith et al., 1995a; Vaidya and Duman, 2001; Zetterstrom et al., 1998).

lead to a reduction of neural plasticity (Kim and Yoon, 1998) and decreased BDNF levels in mice (Barrientos et al., 2003), while treatment such as medication with several classes of antidepressants, ECT as well as psychotherapeutic methods, all equally stating external factors, evoke a normalization of BDNF (Castren and Rantamaki, 2008). Thus, the "neurotrophin hypothesis", which illustrates alterations occurring during depression without any interpretation of the origin of such modulating factors, is substantiated by the fact that not only environmental factors such as stress and antidepressive treatment, but also genetic conditions may regulate BDNF expression in a positive or negative way, thereby modulating the "allostatic" load of an individual, i.e. the risk (or resistance) to develop a pathological state (McEwen, 2000) (see Box 1). Hereby it is postulated that environmental factors (depending on their impact for the allostatic load, see Box 1) are capable to bidirectionally alter genetic programming, i.e. induction or repression of gene expression (Johansson, 2007). During a depressive episode which is associated with decreased BDNF levels mainly detected in the hippocampus, however, it remains questionable, whether e.g. external (environmental) stress represents the major cause for a down-regulation of BDNF on mRNA and protein level, or if an



Fig. 1. Contribution of BDNF to homeostasis: The capability of BDNF to be bidirectionally regulated makes it an interesting target for the investigation of positive and negative effects of several genetic and environmental factors. Positive and negative modulators may interfere with an intact functioning of the neurotrophic cycle at any level, hereby damaging the homeostatic state of a subject by increasing the allostatic load decisively, which can then result in a pathological state of increased vulnerability to a stress-related disease such as depression. Since there are individual susceptibilities (capability to cope/adapt to a challenging, or profit from a beneficial condition), originating for instance from different development and experiences, which consequently alters the ability of the subject to adapt to and cope with a distinct situation, it is essential to always approach depression considering the multifactorial background.

already existing genetic reduction of this neurotrophin predisposes a subject to become depressive.

However, sometimes such particular genetic conditions – as e.g. given in mice carrying a heterozygous mutation for BDNF – do not directly affect the occurrence of pathological alterations. In a study of Ibarguen-Vargas for instance, BDNF heterozygous did not demonstrate an increased vulnerability in the chronic mild stress (CMS) paradigm, but exhibited dampened response to antidepressive treatment (Ibarguen-Vargas et al., 2009). Another interesting approach in this respect is the inducible knockout system, in which also the impact of an early lack of BDNF during critical periods in earlier stages of development can be analysed. Hereby in becomes obvious that particular periods during development are differently decisive with regard to the behavioural outcome (Monteggia et al., 2004).

BDNF, due to its association to stress-, and depression-related alterations, represents a target gene for the development of novel, more accurately acting drugs and additional or alternative environment-supported therapeutic strategies aiming to restore homeostasis and normalize allostasis. Hereby it is crucial to have a reliable description of the *individual* background of depressive-like state (which emphasizes the grading of the characteristic symptoms), since it is essential for successful therapy.

Accordingly, an alternative and promising approach to optimize the functioning of the neurotrophic cycle is the combination of appropriate drug treatment with environment-supported methods (enrichment in animals, psychotherapy in humans), which bears the chance of reducing the lag period until depressive symptoms are ameliorated, increases the number of responders and decreases side effects due to parallel-therapeutic approaches. BDNF, due to its large molecular size, cannot cross the blood–brain barrier and therefore mechanisms have to be found by which the synthesis and release of BDNF is regulated within the neurotrophic cycle. Hereby the goal is to optimize the neuronal activity involving BDNF, which drives critical processes such as synaptic reorganizationshaping neural networks that optimally code for environmentally relevant information (Castren and Rantamaki, 2008), which ultimately serves to stabilize an organism's homeostasis (Fig. 1).

While working with an entire organism (e.g. a mutant mouse), one has to keep in mind that BDNF may not only be controlled by antidepressive treatment, but is also influenced by other external factors, such as housing conditions, communal nesting and the access to physical exercise (Berchtold et al., 2002; Branchi et al., 2006a,b; Chourbaji et al., 2008a; Fuss et al., 2009; Neeper et al., 1996; Russo-Neustadt et al., 2001; Turner and Lewis, 2003). Recent work has thus shown that enriching the environment induces various molecular and cellular changes in particular brain regions of wildtype animals, including changes in gene expression, enhanced neurogenesis and synaptic plasticity (Branchi et al., 2006a,b; Mohammed et al., 2002; Nguyen and Woo, 2003; Spires and Hannan, 2005; Turner and Lewis, 2003; van Praag et al., 2000; Zhu et al., 2006), which might interfere with any kind of drug treatment (e.g. by pronunciation or amelioration of the expected effects). Hereby it is interesting to note that enriched environments also affect animals with a lack of BDNF (BDNF heterozygous animals), but less pronounced (Zhu et al., 2009) Therefore it seems a promising approach to investigate the role of BDNF in the pathophysiology and treatment of depression, from a genetic and also an environmental point of view.

4. BDNF-mutant mice: models for depression?

Genetically modified mice that either over-, or underexpress the neuronal growth factor BDNF theoretically represent valuable tools in the study of the role of BDNF in development, physiology and behaviour (Conover et al., 1995; Croll et al., 1999; Ernfors et al., 1994; Kernie et al., 2000). To assess decisive clinical parameters with regard to depression and emotionality, several

Evaluation of mouse models for depression and anxiety: The diagnostic and statistical Manual IV diagnosis comprises characteristic symptoms with regard to depression and anxiety. For a great number of symptoms it is possible to transfer them, however, some particular symptoms like feelings of guilt, suicide and loss of controllability may not be mimicked in animals.

How to model in mice	
Depressive-like alterations	Applicable methods
Anhedonia	Intracranial self-stimulation Sucrose consumption Social withdrawal
Helplessness/hopelessness Despair behaviour Changes in appetite/weight Changes of sleep structure	Learned helplessness (LH) Forced swim test (FST), tail suspension test (TST) Weight monitoring Electroencephalography
Psychomotor dysregulation	Openfield (OF) Homecage monitoring
Loss of energy	Wheel running/homecage monitoring Observation of sexual activity Observation of nestbuilding Awake EEG
Decreased ability to think/concentrate	T-Maze testing Watermaze 8-arrn-radial maze
Inability to perform minor tasks (e.g. selfcare)	Fur scoring
Thoughts of suicide Feelings of guilt/worthlessness	None None
Emotional changes	Applicable methods
Agoraphobia	Dark-light box (DLB) Openfield (OF)
Social phobia	Social interaction
Specific phobia	Conditioned taste avoidance
Post traumatic stress dsorder	Fear conditioning (cue and/or context) (FC)
Obsessive compulsive behaviour	Marble burial
Changes of sleep structure	Electroencephalography
Autonomic hyperarousal	Stress-induced hypertherrnia
Flashback of trauma	Fear conditioning (cue and/or context) (FC)
Increased startle response	Startle response test
Separation anxiety	Maternal separation,
	ultrasonic vocalization
Loss of control during panic	None

meanwhile well-established behavioural paradigms have been created (Table 2). In recent years many lines of mice carrying different mutations of BDNF have been designed to explore the role of this neurotrophin with regard to depression (Table 3).

However, BDNF-mutant mice bear a number of problems: The detailed investigation of BDNF in living animals (e.g. assessing a gene-dosage effect in homozygous and heterozygous mice) is restricted due to the lack of possibility to examine animals carrying a null mutation of this neurotrophin, since such mice are not viable (Conover et al., 1995; Ernfors et al., 1994). Hereby and in any other transgenic strategies, one has to keep in mind that a heterozygous mutation resembles the situation in humans more closely, since a complete knockout causing a depressive state is very unlikely to occur naturally in humans. Mutant mice, in which only 50% of BDNF is deleted (BDNF+/-) are viable, though, but controversially discussed to represent valid animal models for depression. This results from a number of studies, which could not identify any depressive-like alterations in mice with a heterozygous mutation of the BDNF gene (Chourbaji et al., 2004; MacQueen et al., 2001). When examined for hedonic features, which were

assessed in a sucrose consumption analysis, mutant mice failed to demonstrate depression-characteristic changes (Chourbaji et al., 2004; MacQueen et al., 2001). One of the most problematic points with regard to the characterization of a depressive phenotype is the altered pain sensitivity of BDNF heterozygous animals, which does not allow a valid behavioural characterization by means of the "learned helplessness" paradigm (MacQueen et al., 2001). This, however, represents an other interesting aspect, since it was recently described that depressed patients have an increased pain threshold for externally administered pain (Schwier et al., 2010). On the other hand, there are other common and representative depression tests to assess pathological alterations, e.g. FST or the TST (Porsolt et al., 1977; Steru et al., 1985). When analyzed in these paradigms, BDNF+/- mice fail to present a depressive-like phenotype (Chourbaji et al., 2004; MacQueen et al., 2001). It has therefore been argued that compensatory mechanisms possibly accommodate the chronic low levels of BDNF which results in an essentially normal behavioural profile.

However, mice with a conditional depletion of BDNF, showed a depressive-like phenotype in the TST, but not FST (Chan et al., 2006). Measures of anxiety were not changed in these mice when examined on the elevated plus maze (EPM) (Chan et al., 2006). Contrary, in a former study the same group had demonstrated an increased anxiety-like behaviour in the light-dark exploration test (Rios et al., 2001). Earlier studies, which analyzed different mouse strains in terms of anxiety-like behaviour, stated that behavioural discrepancies may be caused by different test situations (van Gaalen and Steckler, 2000), e.g. by the fact that the EPM is considered more stressful than a free exploration paradigm and that impulsivity-related approach behaviour impacts the performance in avoidance tests (Cryan and Holmes, 2005). Interestingly, not only the test conditions but also the selection of the gender seems to be a critical point. The group of Monteggia published a study in which depression-related behaviours of both genders of forebrain-conditional knockout mice were compared (Autry et al., 2009). Here is was shown that only in females this mutation affected the classical depressive-like behavioural performance (e.g. decreased sucrose preference, bad fur score) without any effects on locomotion, while males demonstrated hyperactivity and no change in depressive-like behaviour (Autry et al., 2009).

While such inconsistent findings evoke reasonable doubts, one may not fully declare or reject BDNF heterozygous mice as animal models for depression, and it remains debatable, whether they could represent models for a predisposition for depression (Groves, 2007). It could be argued that the reduction of 50% may not be sufficient to cause an obvious depressive phenotype, but possibly these mice are rendered more vulnerable to develop an emotional phenotype when exposed to a stressful context (see also "BDNF-mutant mice: models for emotionality"). Indeed stressful environmental conditions produced an emotional phenotype while enrichment evoked a rescue on the behavioural level. Therefore it should be noted that BDNF+/- mice may not directly elucidate pathogenetic effects, but in combination with particular environmental conditions, they should be considered in terms of "proneness for depression" in future experiments. On the level of corticosterone regulation and sleep this proneness may also be observed in humans as it was shown in the "Munich vulnerability study" (Friess et al., 2008). In this study it was demonstrated that healthy relatives of depressed patients show characteristic endophenotypes. This underscores the potential of animal models, in which distinct genetic predispositions may be investigated to increase the knowledge about possible underlying mechanisms in the development of depression.

To fully comprehend how and if the mutation of BDNF affects the behavioural phenotype of the respective mutant lines, is essential to recognize, that the overexpression of BDNF causes antidepres-

BDNF-mutant mice and their validity to be used as mouse models for depression: Since the complete knockout of BDNF is lethal and BDNF homozygous mice are therefore not available for detailed behavioural analyses, several alternative strategies have been developed to investigate the consequences of increased/decreased levels of this neurotrophin. While heterozygous animals fail to represent an obvious depressive phenotype, the conditional forebrain-specific knockout produces controversial findings depending on test conditions or gender, respectively. *Abbreviations*: FST=Forced Swim test, NA=noradrenaline, DA=dopamine, cort=corticosterone, ACTH=adrenocorticotrophic hormone, TST=Tail suspension test. Referring Literature: (Adachi et al., 2008; Autry et al., 2009; Chan et al., 2006; Chourbaji et al., 2004; Govindarajan et al., 2006; Ibarguen-Vargas et al., 2009; MacQueen et al., 2001; Monteggia et al., 2007).

Mutation	Study	Decisive parameters assessed	Depression model	Comments/restrictions
BDNF heterozygous ko	MacQueen et al. (2001)	FST, Learned Helplessness, anhedonia	No	Altered pain sensitivity, LH questionable
BDNF heterozygous ko	Chourbaji et al. (2004)	Serotonergic system, NA, DA, FST, cort.ACTH	No	
Conditional BDNF ko (fetal and postnatal)	Chan et al. (2006)	TST, FST	Yes/no	TST: depressed, FST: not depressed
Conditional BDNF ko (hippocarnpus/forebrain)	Monteggia et al. (2007)	Anhedonia, FST	Yes/no	Gender-specific: females yes, males no
Hippocampus specific BDNFko (DG, CA1)	Adachi et al. (2008)	Anhedonia, FST	No	DG: attenuation of antidepressants
Forebrain-specific inducible BDNF ko	Autry et al. (2009)	Anhedonia, TST, FST, cort, fur scoring	Yes/no	Gender-specific: females yes, males no
BDNF heterozygous ko	Ibarguen-Vargas et al. (2009)	Fur scoring, TST, cort	No	u
Mutation	Study	Indicative parameters	Resistance to depression	Comments/restrictions
BDNF overexpression	Govindarajan et al. (2006)	Hippocampal atrophy, FST	Yes	

sive effects in the FST (Govindarajan et al., 2006) (as one would expect it). This effect may be modulated by the serotonergic or noradrenergic systems, which are affected in BDNF-mutant mice, and which are both discussed to be crucial factors in the pathophysiology of mood disorders (Daws et al., 2007; Duman et al., 1999; Ressler and Nemeroff, 1999; Vaidya et al., 1997). Hence, what becomes obvious when working with mice carrying mutations of BDNF, is the fact, that here theoretic assumptions concerning particular features of depression are not easy to realize in practical courses, which may be caused by the abstractness of these animal models or the miscellaneous function of BDNF, which is hard to capture.

5. BDNF-mutant mice: models for emotionality?

Since transitions are smooth between defined depressive-like characteristics and emotional alterations, it is important to address

this point separately. While a major part of the studies performed with BDNF-mutant mice failed to detect obvious depressive phenotypes, there are other studies, which describe BDNF dependent alterations on the emotional level (Table 4).

Such examinations include the observation of aggressive characteristics (e.g. coping in the resident-intruder paradigm) in viral-mediated, mesolimbic dopamine pathway-specific knockdown BDNF animals (Berton et al., 2006), heterozygous mice (Lyons et al., 1999) and a conditional knockout model (Chan et al., 2006). Further experiments assess anxiety-related behaviour in mice with a genetic variant BDNF (Val66Met) polymorphism (Chen et al., 2006) and with a conditional deletion of BDNF (Rios et al., 2001). However, there are also studies, which show that if the mutation of BDNF is restricted to the forebrain, it does not induce alterations of anxiety (Gorski et al., 2003). In addition there are findings, which demonstrate hyperactivity in BDNF heterozygotes (Duan et al., 2003) and conditional knockouts in a time-dependent pattern,

Table 4

BDNF-mutant mice and their validity to be used as mouse models for emotionality: Many mutant strains have been analyzed in terms of alterations in locomotion, exploration, anxiety and particular types of learning. The presented potential mouse models for emotionality were not conform to suggest a change of BDNF to be directly involved in emotional behaviour, but it seems obvious that external conditions like housing or gender have a great impact on the outcome of the experiments. *Abbreviations*: OF = Openfield, EPM = Elevated Plus Maze, BW = Black White, NO = Novel Object, FC = Fear Conditioning, DLB = Dark–Light Box. Referring Literature: (Adachi et al., 2008; Autry et al., 2009; Chan et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2006; Chourbaji et al., 2008a; Duan et al., 2003; Gorski et al., 2003; Lyons et al., 1999; MacQueen et al., 2001; Monteggia et al., 2007; Rios et al., 2001).

Mutation	Study	Indicative parameters	Model for emotional behaviour	Comments/restrictions
BDNF heterozygous ko	Lyons et al. (1999)	Aggression, OF	Yes	
Conditional BDNF ko in brain (postnatal)	Rios et al. (2001)	Novel cage exploration, dark-light exploration	Yes	
BDNF heterozygous ko	MacQueen et al. (2001)	OF, NO, EPM, staircase test	No	
Forebrain-specific BDNF ko	Gorski et al. (2003)	FC, OF, BW and mirror chamber	No	
BDNF heterozygous ko	Duan et al. (2003)	Locomotion	Yes	
Val66Met	Chen et al. (2006)	Context conditioning, aggression, OF, EPM	Yes	
Conditional BDNF ko (fetal and postnatal)	Chan et al. (2006)	Locomotion, aggression, EPM	Yes	
Conditional BDNF ko (hippocarnpus/forebrain)	Monteggia et al. (2007)	OF, EPM	No	Gender-specific: females less anxious, males hyperactive
Hippocampus specific BDNF ko (DG, CA1)	Adachi et al. (2008)	Locomotion, EPM, FC	No	
BDNF heterozygous ko	Chourbaji et al. (2008a,b)	OF, NO, DLB.T-maze	Yes	Dependent on housing conditions
Forebrain-specific inducible BDNF ko	Autry et al. (2009)	Locomotion, OF, novelty-suppressed feeding	Yes	Gender-specific

i.e. when the conditional knockout in broad forebrain regions is induced early in development (Chan et al., 2006; Monteggia et al., 2004). Remarkably, when the knockout becomes activated in adulthood, these mice demonstrate normal locomotor behaviour (Monteggia et al., 2004). Contrarily hypoactivity has been detected in mice with a forebrain-restricted mutation of BDNF (Gorski et al., 2003). Furthermore, effects on locomotion seem to be gender specific, since animals with an inducible forebrain-specific BDNF knockout (during infancy) presented different phenotypes in locomotion, whereby males in contrast to females presented hyperlocomotion (Autry et al., 2009). Interestingly, when these animals undergo a chronic unpredictable stress (CUS) procedure, females demonstrate significantly decreased locomotion, while males are not affected (Autry et al., 2009). This gender-specific pattern may, however, not be generally transferred, Though, BDNF heterozygous mice develop an emotional phenotype when housed under particular stressful conditions, while the same mutant line reared in "enriched" environments does not present any emotional alterations (Chourbaji et al., 2008a). This may suggest that such inconsistent findings could result from an interaction of internal (genetic) and external (environmental) factors, which, if employed adequately, can contribute to investigate epigenetic mechanisms regulating a potentially increased vulnerability regarding emotional and depressive-like symptoms.

Another important analysis with regard to emotion is the "fear conditioning" paradigm, a standard procedure to assess hippocampus-, and amygdala dependent alterations of emotional learning. When exposed to this test situation there are also controversial findings in BDNF-mutant mice. Liu et al. and Monteggia were able to demonstrate a critical role of a heterozygous mutation (Liu et al., 2004), and inducible forebrain-specific knockout (at an early stage of development) in terms of emotional learning, i.e. fear conditioning performance (Monteggia et al., 2004). Other studies, however, did not find any effect in contextual and cued fear conditioning in BDNF+/– mice (Chourbaji et al., 2004) or mice with an either dentate gyrus,- (DG) or CA1-specific knockout of BDNF (Adachi et al., 2008).

6. Beneficial and detrimental environmental conditions in mice

The quality of environment plays an essential role in the pathophysiology of stress-related diseases such as depression. This has been recognized for human patients, but also for experimental animals. Enriched environment in mutant mice for instance is not only essential to preserve animal welfare and improve the quality of experimental results in animals, which are then able to behave more naturalistic and exploit their behavioural repertoire, but it is equally important to consider in terms of environmentally induced diseases (Chourbaji et al., 2008a; Fox et al., 2006) (see Picture 1).

According to recent findings, especially early environmental experiences exert profound effects on e.g. the behavioural phenotype of MeCP2 null mice (Lonetti et al., 2010) or wildtype mice housed under a particular type of enrichment such as communal nesting (Branchi et al., 2006a) or housing with multi-access to running wheels, nesting material, different objects, etc. (Viola et al., 2010). Furthermore it is known that specific early experiences such as maternal separation (i.e. a poor environmental condition) decrease adult BDNF levels (Cirulli et al., 2003), while e.g. the above mentioned communal nest (i.e. a beneficial form of environment) leads to an increase of NGF as well as BDNF in many brain regions (Branchi et al., 2006a). Interestingly, different periods of exposition to an enriched environment may exert various effects on e.g. BDNF and (full-length or truncated) TrkB levels in the rat visual system, which may be up-, or down-regulated dependent on the duration of exposition (Franklin et al., 2006). This indicates that not only the quality of a respective surrounding, but also the timing of the exposition to a "beneficial" or "detrimental" condition plays a key role in modulating behavioural as well as physiological effects. Hereby enriched environment is proposed to exert sustained epigenetic modification increasing hippocampal BDNF mRNA (Kuzumaki et al., 2010).

Environmental enrichment evokes profound neurochemical, neuroanatomical and behavioural alterations including e.g. experience-dependent plasticity (for review see (Nithianantharajah and Hannan, 2006)), and sex-specific changes in serotonin, noradrenaline and dopamine (Beck and Luine, 2002; Naka et al., 2002; Ren-Patterson et al., 2006) which have been proven in many studies (for reviews see (Mohammed et al., 2002; van Praag et al., 2000)). Hereby the hippocampus has been shown to be one of the most susceptible brain areas regarding enriched husbandry, with different distribution of neurotrophins in the dorsal and ventral part (Zhu et al., 2006) as well as BDNF driven enhancement of hippocampal neurogenesis (Rossi et al., 2006). Moreover it was shown that environmental enrichment regulates gene expression in the striatum of mice, especially coding for proteins involved in cell structure-, proliferation-, and differentiation, signal transduction, transcription, translation as well as metabolism (Thiriet et al., 2008).

Particularly emotional features such as anxiety in the EPM and in the openfield were described to be affected by certain conditions, e.g. stimulating environment (plastic igloos, houses, and running wheels) or handling the animals (Chapillon et al., 1999; Fernandez-Teruel et al., 2002; Wolfer et al., 2004; Zhu et al., 2006). In our hands, as mentioned above, BDNF heterozygous mice reared in a stimulating environment were indeed protected from developing an emotional phenotype while BDNF-mutant mice reared under impoverished conditions presented an emotional phenotype (Chourbaji et al., 2008a). In contrast, in a recent study of Ibarguen-Vargas, poor environmental quality - produced by chronic unpredictable stress - did not increase the stress vulnerability of BDNF heterozygous mice. (Ibarguen-Vargas et al., 2009). Besides the predominantly beneficial effects on behaviour exerted by enrichment, it has been shown that environmental conditions like physical exercise, dietary restriction or specific motivating housing conditions may evoke variations in BDNF levels in particular brain regions. Especially in the hippocampus an elevation of BDNF mRNA and protein could be demonstrated (Falkenberg et al., 1992; Gobbo and O'Mara, 2004; Ickes et al., 2000; Pham et al., 2002). We substantiated such findings, showing that environmental enrichment increases BDNF levels on protein-, and mRNA level in both wildtypes and BDNF heterozygous male mice (Chourbaji et al., submitted). Furthermore, it was shown that even the exposure to behavioural testing itself may induce complex changes of neurotrophin levels, i.e. hippocampal BDNF and NGF (Zhu et al., 2006), a fact which suggests that any kind of incentive activates the neurotrophic system. Remarkably, there are gender-specific differences regarding BDNF regulation to respond to stressful situations such as e.g. a chronic mild stress paradigm, which may be explained by different stress sensitivity in both genders (Autry et al., 2009; Zhu et al., 2006). Environment-regulated gender differences are furthermore described in mice with a forebrain-specific knockout, in which a particular stress paradigm evokes a female-specific increased proneness to show depressive-like symptoms (Autry et al., 2009)

At this point, one should keep in mind that different housing procedures such as single or group housing provide different social environments (more or less enriching the animals' lives) that may oppositely induce mild stress in males and females (Palanza et al., 2001) or different mouse strains (Marashi et al., 2004). With regard to the potentially higher stress score in group-housed males, it is also important to consider a possible interaction between



Picture 1. Modulating housing conditions for C57BI/6 mice: Mice housed under stressful or beneficial conditions exhibit different vulnerabilities to develop depressive-like features. The studies depicted here exemplify how environmental conditions may interfere with the regulation of BDNF, either in mice with a mutated genetic background or wildtype mice, in which the effects of an external stimulation on the expression of BDNF was examined. Referring Literature: (Autry et al., 2009; Branchi, 2008; Branchi et al., 2006a; Chourbaji et al., 2008a; Fuss et al., 2009; Ibarguen-Vargas et al., 2009; Koizumi et al., 2006; Zhu et al., 2009).

social and structural environments. In a study of Haemisch et al. it was reported for DBA/2J male mice that keeping those animals in enriched cages can also result in increased aggression (Haemisch et al., 1994). On the other hand it was shown that if enrichment was offered to the AGB inbred strain, it exerted only positive effects in male mice like increased general activity and playing, without adverse effects on behaviour, physiology, and standardization (Marashi et al., 2004). In a study in which three laboratories independently investigated the effects of enrichment in four commonly used behavioural tests, it was also confirmed that the enrichment did not increase individual variability or the risk of obtaining conflicting behavioural data in replicate studies (Wolfer et al., 2004). Hereby there is no consensus about which types of environmental enrichment (steady access, varying objects, cage size, group constellation, etc.) are ideal with respect to beneficial effects on brain plasticity and behaviour, which is caused by the great number of mouse strains, handling procedures, experimental designs.

According to such results, it seems mandatory to regard the modulating effects of different environmental conditions. Thus, being aware of the aversive or beneficial effect, it represents an interesting goal to examine the role of BDNF in depression by combining "internal" factors (genetic background, targeted mutation, gender) with "external" factors (housing, social environment). Procedural methods that consider such potential interactions bear the advantage of a higher construct validity, which often poses a challenge, especially when working with multifactorial diseases such as that may be evoked by a genetic vulnerability and/or stressful experiences.

7. Depression: genes or environment?

Since depression may be "endogenous", i.e. occurring without any obvious reason, or "reactive", i.e. evoked by detrimental external factors (e.g. unemployment, death of a beloved person), it is hard to tell, if depression is a more environmentally or genetically induced disease and certainly both aspects affecting the target gene BDNF have to be considered as important in the pathophysiology and treatment of this illness (see Table 5). Furthermore there is a great individual variation concerning the ability to recover both in mice and men, a phenomenon which is yet poorly understood.

Apart from the mutant mouse strains that were generated to clarify the development of depressive-like phenotypes, defined environmental stressors such as isolation, defence, etc. have to be regarded critically in the respective strains in terms of inducing depression (see Picture 1). Moreover, external stressors may be not be related only to depression, but also to "vulnerability" and "resilience" in terms of recovery (Schmidt et al., 2009). Furthermore, it is known, for instance that wildtype animals kept under stressful conditions such as "impoverished" group housing are more prone to display a depressive-like phenotype (Chourbaji et al.,

Regulation of BDNF expression: BDNF is influenced by several internal and external factors, such as environmental conditions ("Environment") and genetic aspects ("Genetics"). Environment-related facets with a negative impact on BDNF levels are poor environmental stimulation as well as different types of stressors. Contrary, environmentally driven factors may exert beneficial effects induced e.g. by enriched surroundings, physical activity, balanced nutrition as well as antidepressive treatment (including electroconvulsive therapy (ECT)). Regarding the regulation of BDNF by genetics, it is known, that different variants of mutating the BDNF gene results in quantitative changes of this neurotrophin in different regions, hereby inducing increased or decreased expression, respectively. Besides these effects, there is a stong interplay between the genetic-, and environment-regulated BDNF expression, e.g. distinct environmental conditions may shape the experimental outcome due to a genetic predisposition. On the other hand, a certain genetic background may facilitate the impact of external manipulations, such as stress-sensitivity or response to antidepressive treatment. Referring Literature: (Adachi et al., 2008; Barrientos et al., 2003; Bjornebekk et al., 2008; Branchi et al., 2006a; Chourbaji et al., 2008a; Chourbaji et al., 2004; Croll et al., 1999; Duan et al., 2003; Duman and Monteggia, 2006; Falkenberg et al., 1992; Gobbo and O'Mara, 2004; Gorski et al., 2003; Ickes et al., 2000; Koizumi et al., 2006; Nibuya et al., 1995; Palanza et al., 2001; Pham et al., 2002; Pizarro et al., 2004; Rios et al., 2001; Rossi et al., 2006; Russo-Neustadt et al., 2001; Smith et al., 1995b; Torasdotter et al., 1998; Zhu et al., 2006).

ŧ	 high density housing 	 enriched environment
men	• physical stress (restraint)	 physical activity
iron	 social stress (isolation, defense) 	dietary restriction
Env	• chronic stress (various stressors)	antidepressants/ECT
Genetics	heterozygous knockout conditional knockout forebrain-specific knockout	forebrain-specific overexpression overexpression throughout brain

2005; Karolewicz and Paul, 2001). Additionally, particular adverse social constellations, such as the exposure to potential rivals, may induce increased depression-related behaviour as demonstrated by increased immobility in the FST and TST, which is in agreement with the consideration of social interaction as an important factor regarding stress vulnerability in demanding situations in humans and animals (Calvo-Torrent et al., 1999; Cobb, 1976; Karolewicz and Paul, 2001; Monleon et al., 1995). This suggests that environmental factors may serve as a source of stress sufficient to evoke pathological alterations in "normal" subjects.

Supporting the importance of external stress are studies, which describe depressive-like or emotional phenotypes only in a distinct environmental constellation. In such studies it could be demonstrated that a hypothesized genetic predisposition induced by a heterozygous knockout of the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) alone did not induce depressive-like alterations, while the exposition of the subjects to stress, evoked a clear phenotype (Chourbaji et al., 2008a; Ridder et al., 2005). Since environmental conditions may induce compensational effects or, contrarily, increase the pathogenetic risk, it is essential not to focus on genetic aspects alone, but to consider the combination of the factors, which could be decisively linked to the modulation of a disease state. Though gaining further insights into such mechanisms supports not only the clarification of the pathophysiology of this disease, but may also help to develop new "therapeutical" approaches. Thereby it could be of great importance to improve the responsiveness of antidepressive therapies by combining promising medication with concrete beneficial environmental conditions, which enormously support the success of modern psychiatry in an adequate way.

8. Conclusion and preview

Mouse models for depression state a valuable tool for the investigation of human diseases such as depression. Despite the fact that not all aspects of the human disease can be mimicked by animals (i.e. feelings of guilt, suicide), such models provide important insights into relevant mechanisms involved in pathophysiology and treatment of this disease, and thus facilitate the detailed investigation of endophenotypes or drug-regulated therapeutic mechanisms.

According to current findings and studies, BDNF represents an important aspect in psychiatric research (especially with regard to depression and anxiety disorders) that is modulated by many internal and external factors. The lack of consistent results confirming the neurotrophin hypothesis of depression, however, raises the question, whether BDNF by itself may be the only explanatory factor within this theory. BDNF might be differently involved in particular processes in depression and may be more important for antidepressive therapy than for pathophysiological courses. On the other hand, it still remains unclear why there are so many non-responding patients, where antidepressive treatment does not exert sufficient positive effects which would be predicted by current hypotheses.

What may be concluded, however, is an involvement of the neurotrophic cycle in depression-related contexts. Hereby it seems obvious that the regulation of BDNF, given by a specific genetic predisposition or induced by stress or epigenetic mechanisms, plays a crucial role at least with regard to the vulnerability. With respect to current concepts, it remains to be investigated which systems may be affected by BDNF directly or indirectly, and in which chronological order they possibly exert effects on depressivelike alterations on the behavioural, stress-physiological and/or morphological level. Further exploration about potential systems that could be linked to BDNF-directed alterations would also be expected to be helpful in combined depression treatments, where physiological and environmental factors might act in a synergistic way and therefore improve health and stabilize homeostasis.

An alternative approach would not only be directed at neurotrophins in their mature form, but also consider proneurotrophins that regulate e.g. synaptic plasticity bidirectionally. In a recent article by Lu et al. this topic was addressed and described as the "Yin and Yang" of neurotrophins (Lu et al., 2005). The fact that those pro-neurotrophins can have opposite biological effects than mature ones by interacting with different receptor systems has been a great progress in neurotrophin research and would be an interesting aspect to imply in the investigation of environmentalinduced pathophysiological changes in mice and men.

For clinical research the most important aim obviously is an improvement of ameliorating acting treatments of depression. Thus new strategies target at overcoming the long latency of antidepressive efficiency and the questionable potency of the common medication. Since the current hypotheses cannot fully explain the pathophysiology and therapy of depression and it is not possible to generally transfer such theoretical concept to animal models or the human situation, there is an immense need to revise, e.g. the neurotrophin hypothesis of depression and to imply the details and restriction from previous studies. This more focussed perspective of this hypothesis would bear the advantage of being able to optimize potential targets for novel drugs or psychotherapeutic approaches possibly by combining particular (epi-)genetic and environmental factors, which act complementary.

References

Adachi, M., Barrot, M., Autry, A.E., Theobald, D., Monteggia, L.M., 2008. Selective loss of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in the dentate gyrus attenuates antidepressant efficacy. Biol. Psychiatry 63, 642–649.

- Almeida, R.D., Manadas, B.J., Melo, C.V., Gomes, J.R., Mendes, C.S., Graos, M.M., Carvalho, R.F., Carvalho, A.P., Duarte, C.B., 2005. Neuroprotection by BDNF against glutamate-induced apoptotic cell death is mediated by ERK and PI3-kinase pathways. Cell Death Differ. 12, 1329–1343.
- Altar, C.A., 1999. Neurotrophins and depression. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 20, 59–61. Angelucci, F., Aloe, L., Gruber, S.H., Fiore, M., Mathe, A.A., 2000a. Chronic antipsychotic treatment selectively alters nerve growth factor and neuropeptide Y immunoreactivity and the distribution of choline acetyl transferase in rat brain
- regions. Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol. 3, 13–25. Angelucci, F., Mathe, A.A., Aloe, L., 2000b. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and tyrosine kinase receptor TrkB in rat brain are significantly altered after haloperi-
- dol and risperidone administration. J. Neurosci. Res. 60, 783–794. Arevalo, J.C., Wu, S.H., 2006. Neurotrophin signaling: many exciting surprises! Cell
- Mol. Life Sci. 63, 1523–1537.
 Autry, A.E., Adachi, M., Cheng, P., Monteggia, L.M., 2009. Gender-specific impact of brain-derived neurotrophic factor signaling on stress-induced depression-like behavior. Biol. Psychiatry 66, 84–90.
- Barrientos, R.M., Sprunger, D.B., Campeau, S., Higgins, E.A., Watkins, L.R., Rudy, J.W., Maier, S.F., 2003. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor mRNA downregulation produced by social isolation is blocked by intrahippocampal interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. Neuroscience 121, 847–853.
- Bayer, T.A., Schramm, M., Feldmann, N., Knable, M.B., Falkai, P., 2000. Antidepressant drug exposure is associated with mRNA levels of tyrosine receptor kinase B in major depressive disorder. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 24, 881–888.
- Beck, K.D., Luine, V.N., 2002. Sex differences in behavioral and neurochemical profiles after chronic stress: role of housing conditions. Physiol. Behav. 75, 661–673.
- Berchtold, N.C., Kesslak, J.P., Cotman, C.W., 2002. Hippocampal brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene regulation by exercise and the medial septum. J. Neurosci. Res. 68, 511–521.
- Berton, O., McClung, C.A., Dileone, R.J., Krishnan, V., Renthal, W., Russo, S.J., Graham, D., Tsankova, N.M., Bolanos, C.A., Rios, M., Monteggia, L.M., Self, D.W., Nestler, E.J., 2006. Essential role of BDNF in the mesolimbic dopamine pathway in social defeat stress. Science 311, 864–868.
- Bibel, M., Hoppe, E., Barde, Y.A., 1999. Biochemical and functional interactions between the neurotrophin receptors trk and p75NTR. EMBO J. 18, 616–622.
- Biffo, S., Offenhauser, N., Carter, B.D., Barde, Y.A., 1995. Selective binding and internalisation by truncated receptors restrict the availability of BDNF during development. Development 121, 2461–2470.
- Bjornebekk, A., Mathe, A.A., Gruber, S.H., Brene, S., 2008. Housing conditions modulate escitalopram effects on antidepressive-like behaviour and brain neurochemistry. Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol. 11, 1135–1147.
- Blom, J.M., Tascedda, F., Carra, S., Ferraguti, C., Barden, N., Brunello, N., 2002. Altered regulation of CREB by chronic antidepressant administration in the brain of transgenic mice with impaired glucocorticoid receptor function. Neuropsychopharmacology 26, 605–614.
- Bothwell, M., 1995. Functional interactions of neurotrophins and neurotrophin receptors. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 18, 223–253.
- Branchi, I., 2008. The mouse communal nest: Investigating the epigenetic influences of the early social environment on brain and behavior development. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev..
- Branchi, I., D'Andrea, I., Fiore, M., Di Fausto, V., Aloe, L., Alleva, E., 2006a. Early social enrichment shapes social behavior and nerve growth factor and brainderived neurotrophic factor levels in the adult mouse brain. Biol. Psychiatry 60, 690–696.
- Branchi, I., D'Andrea, I., Sietzema, J., Fiore, M., Di Fausto, V., Aloe, L., Alleva, E., 2006b. Early social enrichment augments adult hippocampal BDNF levels and survival of BrdU-positive cells while increasing anxiety- and "depression"-like behavior. J. Neurosci. Res. 83, 965–973.
- Calabrese, F., Molteni, R., Racagni, G., Riva, M.A., 2009. Neuronal plasticity: a link between stress and mood disorders. Psychoneuroendocrinology.
- Calvo-Torrent, A., Brain, P.F., Martinez, M., 1999. Effect of predatory stress on sucrose intake and behavior on the plus-maze in male mice. Physiol. Behav. 67, 189–196. Castren, E., Rantamaki, T., 2008. Neurotrophins in depression and antidepressant
- effects. Novartis Found. Symp. 289, 43–52, discussion 53–49, 87–93. Chan, J.P., Unger, T.J., Byrnes, J., Rios, M., 2006. Examination of behavioral deficits triggered by targeting Bdnf in fetal or postnatal brains of mice. Neuroscience
- 142, 49–58. Chapillon, P., Manneche, C., Belzung, C., Caston, J., 1999. Rearing environmental enrichment in two inbred strains of mice: 1. Effects on emotional reactivity.
- Behav. Genet. 29, 41–46. Chen, A.C., Shirayama, Y., Shin, K.H., Neve, R.L., Duman, R.S., 2001a. Expression of
- the CAMP response element binding protein (CREB) in hippocampus produces an antidepressant effect. Biol. Psychiatry 49, 753–762.
- Chen, B., Dowlatshahi, D., MacQueen, G.M., Wang, J.F., Young, L.T., 2001b. Increased hippocampal BDNF immunoreactivity in subjects treated with antidepressant medication. Biol. Psychiatry 50, 260–265.
- Chen, Z.Y., Jing, D., Bath, K.G., Ieraci, A., Khan, T., Siao, C.J., Herrera, D.G., Toth, M., Yang, C., McEwen, B.S., Hempstead, B.L., Lee, F.S., 2006. Genetic variant BDNF (Val66Met) polymorphism alters anxiety-related behavior. Science 314, 140–143.
- Chourbaji, S., Brandwein, C., Vogt, M.A., Dormann, C., Hellweg, R., Gass, P., 2008a. Nature vs. nurture: can enrichment rescue the behavioural phenotype of BDNF heterozygous mice? Behav. Brain Res. 192 (2), 254–258.
- Chourbaji, S., Hellweg, R., Brandis, D., Zörner, B., Zacher, C., Lang, U.E., Henn, F.A., Hörtnagel, H., Gass, P., 2004. Mice with reduced BDNF expression show

decreased choline acetyltransferase levels, but regular brain monoamine levels and unaltered emotional behavior. Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 121, 28–36.

- Chourbaji, S., Vogt, M.A., Fumagalli, F., Sohr, R., Frasca, A., Brandwein, C., Hortnagl, H., Riva, M.A., Sprengel, R., Gass, P., 2008b. AMPA receptor subunit 1 (GluR-A) knockout mice model the glutamate hypothesis of depression. FASEB J. 22 (9), 3129–3134.
- Chourbaji, S., Zacher, C., Sanchis-Segura, C., Spanagel, R., Gass, P., 2005. Social and structural housing conditions influence the development of a depressive-like phenotype in the learned helplessness paradigm in male mice. Behav. Brain Res. 164, 100–106.
- Cirulli, F., Berry, A., Alleva, E., 2003. Early disruption of the mother-infant relationship: effects on brain plasticity and implications for psychopathology. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 27, 73–82.
- Cobb, S., 1976. Presidential Address-1976. Social support as a moderator of life stress. Psychosom. Med. 38, 300–314.
- Conover, J.C., Erickson, J.T., Katz, D.M., Bianchi, L.M., Poueymirou, W.T., McClain, J., Pan, L., Helgren, M., Ip, N.Y., Boland, P., et al., 1995. Neuronal deficits, not involving motor neurons, in mice lacking BDNF and/or NT4. Nature 375, 235–238.
- Conti, A.C., Cryan, J.F., Dalvi, A., Lucki, I., Blendy, J.A., 2002. cAMP response elementbinding protein is essential for the upregulation of brain-derived neurotrophic factor transcription, but not the behavioral or endocrine responses to antidepressant drugs. J. Neurosci. 22, 3262–3268.
- Croll, S.D., Suri, C., Compton, D.L., Simmons, M.V., Yancopoulos, G.D., Lindsay, R.M., Wiegand, S.J., Rudge, J.S., Scharfman, H.E., 1999. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor transgenic mice exhibit passive avoidance deficits, increased seizure severity and in vitro hyperexcitability in the hippocampus and entorhinal cortex. Neuroscience 93, 1491–1506.
- Cryan, J.F., Holmes, A., 2005. The ascent of mouse: advances in modelling human depression and anxiety. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 4, 775–790.
- D'Sa, Ĉ., Duman, R.S., 2002. Antidepressants and neuroplasticity. Bipolar Disord. 4, 183–194.
- Daws, L.C., Munn, J.L., Valdez, M.F., Frosto-Burke, T., Hensler, J.G., 2007. Serotonin transporter function, but not expression, is dependent on brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF): in vivo studies in BDNF-deficient mice. J. Neurochem. 101, 641–651.
- Dechant, G., Barde, Y.A., 2002. The neurotrophin receptor p75(NTR): novel functions and implications for diseases of the nervous system. Nat. Neurosci. 5, 1131–1136.
- Dowlatshahi, D., MacQueen, G.M., Wang, J.F., Young, L.T., 1998. Increased temporal cortex CREB concentrations and antidepressant treatment in major depression. Lancet 352, 1754–1755.
- Duan, W., Guo, Z., Jiang, H., Ware, M., Mattson, M.P., 2003. Reversal of behavioral and metabolic abnormalities, and insulin resistance syndrome, by dietary restriction in mice deficient in brain-derived neurotrophic factor. Endocrinology 144, 2446–2453.
- Duman, R.S., Heninger, G.R., Nestler, E.J., 1997. A molecular and cellular theory of depression. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 54, 597–606.
- Duman, R.S., Malberg, J., Nakagawa, S., D'Sa, C., 2000. Neuronal plasticity and survival in mood disorders. Biol. Psychiatry 48, 732–739.
- Duman, R.S., Malberg, J., Thome, J., 1999. Neural plasticity to stress and antidepressant treatment. Biol. Psychiatry 46, 1181-1191.
- Duman, R.S., Monteggia, L.M., 2006. A neurotrophic model for stress-related mood disorders. Biol. Psychiatry 59, 1116–1127.
- Duman, R.S., Vaidya, V.A., 1998. Molecular and cellular actions of chronic electroconvulsive seizures. J. ECT 14, 181–193.
- Eide, F.F., Vining, E.R., Eide, B.L., Zang, K., Wang, X.Y., Reichardt, L.F., 1996. Naturally occurring truncated trkB receptors have dominant inhibitory effects on brainderived neurotrophic factor signaling. J. Neurosci. 16, 3123–3129.
- Eisch, A.J., Bolanos, C.A., de Wit, J., Simonak, R.D., Pudiak, C.M., Barrot, M., Verhaagen, J., Nestler, E.J., 2003. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor in the ventral midbrain-nucleus accumbens pathway: a role in depression. Biol. Psychiatry 54, 994–1005.
- Ernfors, P., Lee, K.F., Jaenisch, R., 1994. Mice lacking brain-derived neurotrophic factor develop with sensory deficits. Nature 368, 147–150.
- Esposito, D., Patel, P., Stephens, R.M., Perez, P., Chao, M.V., Kaplan, D.R., Hempstead, B.L., 2001. The cytoplasmic and transmembrane domains of the p75 and Trk A receptors regulate high affinity binding to nerve growth factor. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 32687–32695.
- Falkenberg, T., Mohammed, A.K., Henriksson, B., Persson, H., Winblad, B., Lindefors, N., 1992. Increased expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor mRNA in rat hippocampus is associated with improved spatial memory and enriched environment. Neurosci. Lett. 138, 153–156.
- Fernandez-Teruel, A., Gimenez-Llort, L., Escorihuela, R.M., Gil, L., Aguilar, R., Steimer, T., Tobena, A., 2002. Early-life handling stimulation and environmental enrichment: are some of their effects mediated by similar neural mechanisms? Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 73, 233–245.
- Fox, C., Merali, Z., Harrison, C., 2006. Therapeutic and protective effect of environmental enrichment against psychogenic and neurogenic stress. Behav. Brain Res. 175, 1–8.
- Franklin, T.B., Murphy, J.A., Myers, T.L., Clarke, D.B., Currie, R.W., 2006. Enriched environment during adolescence changes brain-derived neurotrophic factor and TrkB levels in the rat visual system but does not offer neuroprotection to retinal ganglion cells following axotomy. Brain Res. 1095, 1–11.
- Friess, E., Modell, S., Brunner, H., Tagaya, H., Lauer, C.J., Holsboer, F., Ising, M., 2008. The Munich vulnerability study on affective disorders: microstructure of sleep in high-risk subjects. Eur. Arch. Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 258, 285–291.

- Fuss, J., Ben Abdallah, N.M., Vogt, M.A., Touma, C., Pacifici, P.G., Palme, R., Witzemann, V., Hellweg, R., Gass, P., 2009. Voluntary exercise induces anxiety-like behavior in adult C57BL/6J mice correlating with hippocampal neurogenesis. Hippocampus.
- Gobbo, O.L., O'Mara, S.M., 2004. Impact of enriched-environment housing on brainderived neurotrophic factor and on cognitive performance after a transient global ischemia. Behav. Brain Res. 152, 231–241.
- Gorski, J.A., Balogh, S.A., Wehner, J.M., Jones, K.R., 2003. Learning deficits in forebrainrestricted brain-derived neurotrophic factor mutant mice. Neuroscience 121, 341–354.
- Gourley, SL, Taylor, JR., 2009. Recapitulation and reversal of a persistent depressionlike syndrome in rodents. Curr. Protoc. Neurosci. Chapter 9, Unit 9 32.
- Govindarajan, A., Rao, B.S., Nair, D., Trinh, M., Mawjee, N., Tonegawa, S., Chattarji, S., 2006. Transgenic brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression causes both anxiogenic and antidepressant effects. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 13208–13213.
- Groves, J.O., 2007. Is it time to reassess the BDNF hypothesis of depression? Mol. Psychiatry 12, 1079–1088.
- Haemisch, A., Voss, T., Gartner, K., 1994. Effects of environmental enrichment on aggressive behavior, dominance hierarchies, and endocrine states in male DBA/2J mice. Physiol. Behav. 56, 1041–1048.
- Heumann, R., 1994. Neurotrophin signalling. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 4, 668–679. Hindmarch, I., 2002. Beyond the monoamine hypothesis: mechanisms, molecules and methods. Eur. Psychiatry 17 (Suppl. 3), 294–299.
- Holsboer, F., 2000. The corticosteroid receptor hypothesis of depression. Neuropsychopharmacology 23, 477–501.
- Holsboer, F., 2001. Stress, hypercorticosolism and corticosteroid receptors in depression: implications for therapy. J. Affect. Disord. 62, 77–91.
- Hoshaw, B.A., Malberg, J.E., Lucki, I., 2005. Central administration of IGF-I and BDNF leads to long-lasting antidepressant-like effects. Brain Res. 1037, 204–208.
- Ibarguen-Vargas, Y., Surget, A., Vourc'h, P., Leman, S., Andres, C.R., Gardier, A.M., Belzung, C., 2009. Deficit in BDNF does not increase vulnerability to stress but dampens antidepressant-like effects in the unpredictable chronic mild stress. Behav. Brain Res. 202, 245–251.
- Ickes, B.R., Pham, T.M., Sanders, L.A., Albeck, D.S., Mohammed, A.H., Granholm, A.C., 2000. Long-term environmental enrichment leads to regional increases in neurotrophin levels in rat brain. Exp. Neurol. 164, 45–52.
- Johansson, B.B., 2007. Regeneration and plasticity in the brain and spinal cord. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 27, 1417–1430.
- Karege, F., Perret, G., Bondolfi, G., Schwald, M., Bertschy, G., Aubry, J.M., 2002. Decreased serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels in major depressed patients. Psychiatry Res. 109, 143–148.
- Karolewicz, B., Paul, I.A., 2001. Group housing of mice increases immobility and antidepressant sensitivity in the forced swim and tail suspension tests. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 415, 197–201.
- Kernie, S.G., Liebl, D.J., Parada, L.F., 2000. BDNF regulates eating behavior and locomotor activity in mice. EMBO J. 19, 1290–1300.
- Kim, J.J., Yoon, K.S., 1998. Stress: metaplastic effects in the hippocampus. Trends Neurosci. 21, 505–509.
- Koizumi, H., Hashimoto, K., Iyo, M., 2006. Dietary restriction changes behaviours in brain-derived neurotrophic factor heterozygous mice: role of serotonergic system. Eur. J. Neurosci. 24, 2335–2344.
- Kuzumaki, N., Ikegami, D., Tamura, R., Hareyama, N., Imai, S., Narita, M., Torigoe, K., Niikura, K., Takeshima, H., Ando, T., Igarashi, K., Kanno, J., Ushijima, T., Suzuki, T., 2010. Hippocampal epigenetic modification at the brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene induced by an enriched environment. Hippocampus.
- Lambas-Senas, L., Mnie-Filali, O., Certin, V., Faure, C., Lemoine, L., Zimmer, L., Haddjeri, N., 2009. Functional correlates for 5-HT(1A) receptors in maternally deprived rats displaying anxiety and depression-like behaviors. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 33, 262–268.
- Lang, U.E., Hellweg, R., Gallinat, J., 2004. BDNF serum concentrations in healthy volunteers are associated with depression-related personality traits. Neuropsychopharmacology 29, 795–798.
- Lee, F.S., Kim, A.H., Khursigara, G., Chao, M.V., 2001. The uniqueness of being a neurotrophin receptor. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 11, 281–286.
- Liu, I.Y., Lyons, W.E., Mamounas, L.A., Thompson, R.F., 2004. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor plays a critical role in contextual fear conditioning. J. Neurosci. 24, 7958–7963.
- Lonetti, G., Angelucci, A., Morando, L., Boggio, E.M., Giustetto, M., Pizzorusso, T., 2010. Early environmental enrichment moderates the behavioral and synaptic phenotype of MeCP2 null mice. Biol. Psychiatry 67, 657–665.
- Lu, B., Pang, P.T., Woo, N.H., 2005. The yin and yang of neurotrophin action. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 6, 603–614.
- Lyons, W.E., Mamounas, L.A., Ricaurte, G.A., Coppola, V., Reid, S.W., Bora, S.H., Wihler, C., Koliatsos, V.E., Tessarollo, L., 1999. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor-deficient mice develop aggressiveness and hyperphagia in conjunction with brain serotonergic abnormalities. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 96, 15239–15244.
- MacQueen, G.M., Ramakrishnan, K., Croll, S.D., Siuciak, J.A., Yu, G., Young, L.T., Fahnestock, M., 2001. Performance of heterozygous brain-derived neurotrophic factor knockout mice on behavioral analogues of anxiety, nociception, and depression. Behav. Neurosci. 115, 1145–1153.
- Majdan, M., Lachance, C., Gloster, A., Aloyz, R., Zeindler, C., Bamji, S., Bhakar, A., Belliveau, D., Fawcett, J., Miller, F.D., Barker, P.A., 1997. Transgenic mice expressing the intracellular domain of the p75 neurotrophin receptor undergo neuronal apoptosis. J. Neurosci. 17, 6988–6998.

- Malberg, J.E., Eisch, A.J., Nestler, E.J., Duman, R.S., 2000. Chronic antidepressant treatment increases neurogenesis in adult rat hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 20, 9104–9110.
- Marashi, V., Barnekow, A., Sachser, N., 2004. Effects of environmental enrichment on males of a docile inbred strain of mice. Physiol. Behav. 82, 765–776.
- Martinowich, K., Manji, H., Lu, B., 2007. New insights into BDNF function in depression and anxiety. Nat. Neurosci. 10, 1089–1093.
- McEwen, B.S., 2000. The neurobiology of stress: from serendipity to clinical relevance. Brain Res. 886, 172–189.
- Mill, J., Petronis, A., 2007. Molecular studies of major depressive disorder: the epigenetic perspective. Mol. Psychiatry 12, 799–814.
- Miro, X., Perez-Torres, S., Artigas, F., Puigdomenech, P., Palacios, J.M., Mengod, G., 2002. Regulation of cAMP phosphodiesterase mRNAs expression in rat brain by acute and chronic fluoxetine treatment. An in situ hybridization study. Neuropharmacology 43, 1148–1157.
- Mohammed, A.H., Zhu, S.W., Darmopil, S., Hjerling-Leffler, J., Ernfors, P., Winblad, B., Diamond, M.C., Eriksson, P.S., Bogdanovic, N., 2002. Environmental enrichment and the brain. Prog. Brain Res. 138, 109–133.
- Monleon, S., D'Aquila, P., Parra, A., Simon, V.M., Brain, P.F., Willner, P., 1995. Attenuation of sucrose consumption in mice by chronic mild stress and its restoration by imipramine. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 117, 453–457.
- Monteggia, L.M., Barrot, M., Powell, C.M., Berton, O., Galanis, V., Gemelli, T., Meuth, S., Nagy, A., Greene, R.W., Nestler, E.J., 2004. Essential role of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in adult hippocampal function. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101, 10827–10832.
- Monteggia, L.M., Luikart, B., Barrot, M., Theobold, D., Malkovska, I., Nef, S., Parada, L.F., Nestler, E.J., 2007. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor conditional knockouts show gender differences in depression-related behaviors. Biol. Psychiatry 61, 187–197.
- Mowla, S.J., Farhadi, H.F., Pareek, S., Atwal, J.K., Morris, S.J., Seidah, N.G., Murphy, R.A., 2001. Biosynthesis and post-translational processing of the precursor to brain-derived neurotrophic factor. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 12660–12666.
- Naka, F., Shiga, T., Yaguchi, M., Okado, N., 2002. An enriched environment increases noradrenaline concentration in the mouse brain. Brain Res. 924, 124–126.
- Neeper, S.A., Gomez-Pinilla, F., Choi, J., Cotman, C.W., 1996. Physical activity increases mRNA for brain-derived neurotrophic factor and nerve growth factor in rat brain. Brain Res. 726, 49–56.
- Nestler, E.J., Barrot, M., DiLeone, R.J., Eisch, A.J., Gold, S.J., Monteggia, L.M., 2002. Neurobiology of depression. Neuron 34, 13–25.
- Nguyen, P.V., Woo, N.H., 2003. Regulation of hippocampal synaptic plasticity by cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinases. Prog. Neurobiol. 71, 401–437.
- Nibuya, M., Morinobu, S., Duman, R.S., 1995. Regulation of BDNF and trkB mRNA in rat brain by chronic electroconvulsive seizure and antidepressant drug treatments. J. Neurosci. 15, 7539–7547.
- Nibuya, M., Nestler, E.J., Duman, R.S., 1996. Chronic antidepressant administration increases the expression of cAMP response element binding protein (CREB) in rat hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 16, 2365–2372.
- Nithianantharajah, J., Hannan, A.J., 2006. Enriched environments, experiencedependent plasticity and disorders of the nervous system. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 7, 697–709.
- Oliff, H.S., Berchtold, N.C., Isackson, P., Cotman, C.W., 1998. Exercise-induced regulation of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) transcripts in the rat hippocampus. Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 61, 147–153.
- Palanza, P., Gioiosa, L., Parmigiani, S., 2001. Social stress in mice: gender differences and effects of estrous cycle and social dominance. Physiol. Behav. 73, 411–420.
- Petryshen, T.L., Sabeti, P.C., Aldinger, K.A., Fry, B., Fan, J.B., Schaffner, S.F., Waggoner, S.G., Tahl, A.R., Sklar, P., 2009. Population genetic study of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) gene. Mol. Psychiatry.
- Pham, T.M., Winblad, B., Granholm, A.C., Mohammed, A.H., 2002. Environmental influences on brain neurotrophins in rats. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 73, 167–175.
- Pizarro, J.M., Lumley, L.A., Medina, W., Robison, C.L., Chang, W.E., Alagappan, A., Bah, M.J., Dawood, M.Y., Shah, J.D., Mark, B., Kendall, N., Smith, M.A., Saviolakis, G.A., Meyerhoff, J.L., 2004. Acute social defeat reduces neurotrophin expression in brain cortical and subcortical areas in mice. Brain Res. 1025, 10–20.
- Porsolt, R.D., Le Pichon, M., Jalfre, M., 1977. Depression: a new animal model sensitive to antidepressant treatments. Nature 266, 730–732.
- Rabizadeh, S., Oh, J., Zhong, L.T., Yang, J., Bitler, C.M., Butcher, L.L., Bredesen, D.E., 1993. Induction of apoptosis by the low-affinity NGF receptor. Science 261, 345–348.
- Rasmusson, A.M., Shi, L., Duman, R., 2002. Downregulation of BDNF mRNA in the hippocampal dentate gyrus after re-exposure to cues previously associated with footshock. Neuropsychopharmacology 27, 133–142.
- Ren-Patterson, R.F., Cochran, L.W., Holmes, A., Lesch, K.P., Lu, B., Murphy, D.L., 2006. Gender-dependent modulation of brain monoamines and anxiety-like behaviors in mice with genetic serotonin transporter and BDNF deficiencies. Cell. Mol. Neurobiol. 26 (4–6), 755–780.
- Ressler, K.J., Nemeroff, C.B., 1999. Role of norepinephrine in the pathophysiology and treatment of mood disorders. Biol. Psychiatry 46, 1219–1233.
- Ridder, S., Chourbaji, S., Hellweg, R., Urani, A., Zacher, C., Schmid, W., Zink, M., Hortnagl, H., Flor, H., Henn, F.A., Schutz, G., Gass, P., 2005. Mice with genetically altered glucocorticoid receptor expression show altered sensitivity for stressinduced depressive reactions. J. Neurosci. 25, 6243–6250.
- Rios, M., Fan, G., Fekete, C., Kelly, J., Bates, B., Kuehn, R., Lechan, R.M., Jaenisch, R., 2001. Conditional deletion of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in the postnatal brain leads to obesity and hyperactivity. Mol. Endocrinol. 15, 1748–1757.

- Rossi, C., Angelucci, A., Costantin, L., Braschi, C., Mazzantini, M., Babbini, F., Fabbri, M.E., Tessarollo, L., Maffei, L., Berardi, N., Caleo, M., 2006. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) is required for the enhancement of hippocampal neurogenesis following environmental enrichment. Eur. J. Neurosci. 24, 1850–1856.
- Roux, P.P., Colicos, M.A., Barker, P.A., Kennedy, T.E., 1999. p75 neurotrophin receptor expression is induced in apoptotic neurons after seizure. J. Neurosci. 19, 6887–6896.
- Russo-Neustadt, A., Beard, R.C., Cotman, C.W., 1999. Exercise, antidepressant medications, and enhanced brain derived neurotrophic factor expression. Neuropsychopharmacology 21, 679–682.
- Russo-Neustadt, A., Ha, T., Ramirez, R., Kesslak, J.P., 2001. Physical activityantidepressant treatment combination: impact on brain-derived neurotrophic factor and behavior in an animal model. Behav. Brain Res. 120, 87–95.
- Saarelainen, T., Hendolin, P., Lucas, G., Koponen, E., Sairanen, M., MacDonald, E., Agerman, K., Haapasalo, A., Nawa, H., Aloyz, R., Ernfors, P., Castren, E., 2003. Activation of the TrkB neurotrophin receptor is induced by antidepressant drugs and is required for antidepressant-induced behavioral effects. J. Neurosci. 23, 349–357.
- Sartorius, A., Hellweg, R., Litzke, J., Vogt, M., Dormann, C., Vollmayr, B., Danker-Hopfe, H., Gass, P., 2009. Correlations and discrepancies between serum and brain tissue levels of neurotrophins after electroconvulsive treatment in rats. Pharmacopsychiatry 42, 270–276.
- Schildkraut, J.J., 1965. The catecholamine hypothesis of affective disorders: a review of supporting evidence. Am. J. Psychiatry 122, 509–522.
- Schmidt, M.V., Scharf, S.H., Sterlemann, V., Ganea, K., Liebl, C., Holsboer, F., Muller, M.B., 2009. High susceptibility to chronic social stress is associated with a depression-like phenotype. Psychoneuroendocrinology.
- Schwier, C., Kliem, A., Boettger, M.K., Bar, K.J., 2010. Increased cold-pain thresholds in major depression. J. Pain 11, 287–290.
- Sen, S., Duman, R., Sanacora, G., 2008. Serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor, depression, and antidepressant medications: meta-analyses and implications. Biol. Psychiatry 64, 527–532.
- Shirayama, Y., Chen, A.C., Nakagawa, S., Russell, D.S., Duman, R.S., 2002. Brainderived neurotrophic factor produces antidepressant effects in behavioral models of depression. J. Neurosci. 22, 3251–3261.
- Siuciak, J.A., Lewis, D.R., Wiegand, S.J., Lindsay, R.M., 1997. Antidepressant-like effect of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 56, 131–137.
- Smith, M.A., Makino, S., Altemus, M., Michelson, D., Hong, S.K., Kvetnansky, R., Post, R.M., 1995a. Stress and antidepressants differentially regulate neurotrophin 3 mRNA expression in the locus coeruleus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 92, 8788–8792.
- Smith, M.A., Makino, S., Kvetnansky, R., Post, R.M., 1995b. Effects of stress on neurotrophic factor expression in the rat brain. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 771, 234–239.
- Smith, M.A., Zhang, L.X., Lyons, W.E., Mamounas, L.A., 1997. Anterograde transport of endogenous brain-derived neurotrophic factor in hippocampal mossy fibers. Neuroreport 8, 1829–1834.
- Spires, T.L., Hannan, A.J., 2005. Nature, nurture and neurology: gene-environment interactions in neurodegenerative disease. FEBS Anniversary Prize Lecture delivered on 27 June 2004 at the 29th FEBS Congress in Warsaw. FEBS J. 272, 2347–2361.
- Steru, L, Chermat, R., Thierry, B., Simon, P., 1985. The tail suspension test: a new method for screening antidepressants in mice. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 85, 367–370.

- Szabo, S.T., de Montigny, C., Blier, P., 1999. Modulation of noradrenergic neuronal firing by selective serotonin reuptake blockers. Br. J. Pharmacol. 126, 568–571.
- Tapia-Arancibia, L., Rage, F., Givalois, L., Arancibia, S., 2004. Physiology of BDNF: focus on hypothalamic function. Front. Neuroendocrinol. 25, 77–107.
- Thiriet, N., Amar, L., Toussay, X., Lardeux, V., Ladenheim, B., Becker, K.G., Cadet, J.L., Solinas, M., Jaber, M., 2008. Environmental enrichment during adolescence regulates gene expression in the striatum of mice. Brain Res. 1222, 31–41.
- Thome, J., Sakai, N., Shin, K., Steffen, C., Zhang, Y.J., Impey, S., Storm, D., Duman, R.S., 2000. cAMP response element-mediated gene transcription is upregulated by chronic antidepressant treatment. J. Neurosci. 20, 4030–4036.
- Torasdotter, M., Metsis, M., Henriksson, B.G., Winblad, B., Mohammed, A.H., 1998. Environmental enrichment results in higher levels of nerve growth factor mRNA in the rat visual cortex and hippocampus. Behav. Brain Res. 93, 83–90.
- Turner, C.A., Lewis, M.H., 2003. Environmental enrichment: effects on stereotyped behavior and neurotrophin levels. Physiol. Behav. 80, 259–266.
- Ueyama, T., Kawai, Y., Nemoto, K., Sekimoto, M., Tone, S., Senba, E., 1997. Immobilization stress reduced the expression of neurotrophins and their receptors in the rat brain. Neurosci. Res. 28, 103–110.
- Underwood, C.K., Coulson, E.J., 2008. The p75 neurotrophin receptor. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 40, 1664–1668.
- Urani, A., Chourbaji, S., Henn, F., Gass, P., 2003. The neurotrophin hypothesis of depression revistited by transgenic mice. Clin. Neurosci. Res. 3, 263–269.
- Vaidya, V.A., Duman, R.S., 2001. Depression—emerging insights from neurobiology. Br. Med. Bull. 57, 61–79.
- Vaidya, V.A., Marek, G.J., Aghajanian, G.K., Duman, R.S., 1997. 5-HT2A receptormediated regulation of brain-derived neurotrophic factor mRNA in the hippocampus and the neocortex. J. Neurosci. 17, 2785–2795.
- van Gaalen, M.M., Steckler, T., 2000. Behavioural analysis of four mouse strains in an anxiety test battery. Behav. Brain Res. 115, 95–106.
- van Praag, H., Kempermann, G., Gage, F.H., 2000. Neural consequences of environmental enrichment. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 1, 191–198.
- Viola, G.G., Botton, P.H., Moreira, J.D., Ardais, A.P., Oses, J.P., Souza, D.O., 2010. Influence of environmental enrichment on an object recognition task in CF1 mice. Physiol. Behav. 99, 17–21.
- Wolfer, D.P., Litvin, O., Morf, S., Nitsch, R.M., Lipp, H.P., Wurbel, H., 2004. Laboratory animal welfare: cage enrichment and mouse behaviour. Nature 432, 821–822.
- Wu, X., Castren, E., 2009. Co-treatment with diazepam prevents the effects of fluoxetine on the proliferation and survival of hippocampal dentate granule cells. Biol. Psychiatry 66, 5–8.
- Yamada, S., Yamamoto, M., Ozawa, H., Riederer, P., Saito, T., 2003. Reduced phosphorylation of cyclic AMP-responsive element binding protein in the postmortem orbitofrontal cortex of patients with major depressive disorder. J. Neural Transm. 110, 671–680.
- Zetterstrom, T.S., Pei, Q., Grahame-Smith, D.G., 1998. Repeated electroconvulsive shock extends the duration of enhanced gene expression for BDNF in rat brain compared with a single administration. Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 57, 106–110.
- Zhu, S.W., Codita, A., Bogdanovic, N., Hjerling-Leffler, J., Ernfors, P., Winblad, B., Dickins, D.W., Mohammed, A.H., 2009. Influence of environmental manipulation on exploratory behaviour in male BDNF knockout mice. Behav. Brain Res. 197, 339–346.
- Zhu, S.W., Yee, B.K., Nyffeler, M., Winblad, B., Feldon, J., Mohammed, A.H., 2006. Influence of differential housing on emotional behaviour and neurotrophin levels in mice. Behav. Brain Res. 169, 10–20.